IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARIUS JAMINE POLITE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC10-1812 DCA NO. 5D08-3921

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

-

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Petition for Discretionary Review From the District of Appeal of Florida, Fifth District

WILLIAM R. PONALL Florida Bar No. 421634

WARREN W. LINDSEY Florida Bar No. 299111

KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY, SNURE & PONALL, P.A.

1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1
P.O. Box 2728
Winter Park, FL 32790-2728
Telephone: (407)644-7600
Facsimile: (407) 645-0805
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Darius Jamine Polite was convicted of four serious offenses arising out of an alleged incident on July 14, 2008, in which three men allegedly broke into the home of Falisa Levine and her two children and attempted to rob them at gunpoint. (Appendix A at 1-2). Ms. Levine appeared at trial but expressed great reluctance about testifying and repeatedly claimed she did not remember the alleged events. (Appendix A at 2; TT1 at 38-41).1

The State showed Ms. Levine a written statement she allegedly prepared and provided to the police on the date of the alleged incident. Although Ms. Levine testified that she had written the statement, she never testified that the written statement accurately reflected the facts she allegedly observed on the date of the charged offenses or that she was being truthful at the time she wrote the statement. (TT1 at 31-46). In fact, she actually testified that she may have made a mistake when she wrote the statement because the police were pressuring her when she wrote it. (TT1 at 49).

¹ References to the transcripts of Mr. Polite's trial are noted as follows: (TT1 at 45 = Volume 1, Page 45 of the Trial Transcripts).

Over numerous objections by Mr. Polite, the trial court admitted Ms. Levine's out-of-court statement into evidence. (TT1 at 34, 42-43, 44). The written statement was extremely prejudicial to Mr. Polite, because it indicated that Ms. Levine recognized Mr. Polite as one of the perpetrators. (Appendix A at 4-5).

Mr. Polite appealed his convictions to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In that appeal, Mr. Polite argued, inter alia, that the trial court erred in admitting Ms. Levine's written into evidence pursuant to the past recollection recorded hearsay exception contained in Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5). Mr. Polite argued that the State had failed to establish the proper foundation for the admissibility of Ms. Levine's prior out-of-court statement pursuant to that exception because Ms. Levine did not testify at trial that the statement was accurate at the time it was written. Additionally, Mr. Polite argued that an interpretation of § 90.803(5) which would permit the introduction of the out-of-court statement without that testimony would violate Mr. Polite's right to confrontation, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United Constitution.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal issued a written opinion

affirming Mr. Polite's convictions. (Appendix A). First, the Fifth District held that Mr. Polite did not properly preserve for appellate review the specific argument he made on appeal. (Appendix A at 7).

The Fifth District also held, however, that even if the issue was properly preserved for appeal, the State had presented sufficient evidence to support the admission of Ms. Levine's statement pursuant to § 90.803(5). (Appendix A at 7-11). In support of that decision, the Fifth District stated the following:

Polite correctly points out that Florida case law, as it stands currently, does not allow a statement qualify written to as recollection recorded unless the declarant lays the foundation for its admission with testimony at trial that he or she recorded the statement when the described events were fresh in his or her mind, and attests to the accuracy of the statement (either by testifying that he or she made an accurate record of the fact or event or that he or she is confident that the facts would not have been written unless they were true). E.g., Hernandez v. State, 31 So.3d 873 (Fla. 4th 2010) (holding that where witness unable, or unwilling, to attest to the accuracy of the taped conversation, the state could not introduce the same as a past recollection recorded); Smith v. State, 880 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (holding audio-taped recordings were inadmissible as past recollection recorded witnesses did not testify that recordings accurately reflected their memories of events when made); Montano v. State, So.2d 677 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (holding tape

recorded statement given to police shortly after criminal incident was inadmissible under section 90.803(5) when witness did not remember its contents and did not testify that it correctly reflected her knowledge or that she tried to be truthful at the time she made the statement).

We disagree with these cases because they are contrary to the plain language of the statute and rule.

(Appendix A at 8-9).

The Fifth District relied on decisions of various federal courts and decisions made by appellate courts in other states to support its conclusion that the aforementioned decisions of the Second District and the Fourth District were incorrect. (Appendix A at 9-10). In conclusion, the Fifth District stated the following:

Given the totality of the circumstances, including that the witness swore to the statement as true at the time she gave it; that she was still consumed with the emotions of the event when talking with police; and that other evidence corroborated her statement, we find that there was sufficient evidence to lay a foundation for admission of the statement under section 90.803(5), even though the declarant herself never confirmed the accuracy of the statement at trial.

(Appendix A at 11).

Mr. Polite filed a Motion for Rehearing and Certification.

The Fifth District denied Mr. Polite's motion. (Appendix B).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case directly and expressly conflicts with a decision of this Court and decisions of other district courts of appeal. The Fifth District's opinion clearly and expressly indicates disagreement with the previous holdings of this Court, Second District Court of Appeal, and the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which all state that a witness must personally vouch for the accuracy of his or her prior out-of-court statement at the time of trial before that statement becomes admissible hearsay exception for pursuant the a past recorded recollection.

ARGUMENT

has discretionary jurisdiction to review a Court district court decision where that decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court or another district court of appeal on the same issue of law. Article V, Section 3(b)(3), FLA. CONST.; Fla. R. App. Ρ. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Once this Court accepts jurisdiction of a case in order to resolve a conflict, it has the authority to address all the issues properly raised in the lower court.

Russell v. State, 982 So.2d 642, 645 (Fla. 2008); Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982).

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTRLY CONFLICTS WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT AND DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL ON WHETHER A WITNESS MUST PERSONALLY VOUCH FOR THE ACCURACY OF HIS OR HER PRIOR OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENT AT THE TIME OF TRIAL BEFORE THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENT IS ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO THE HEARSAY EXCEPTION FOR PAST RECOLLECTION RECORDED.

The Fifth District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Garrett v. Morris Kirschman and Company, Inc.*, 336 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1976), and the decisions of the district courts in *Hernandez v. State*, 31 So.3d 873 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), *Smith v. State*, 880 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and *Montano v. State*, 846 So.2d 677 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

In Hernandez, Smith, and Montano, the district courts held that a witness' prior recorded out-of-court statement is not admissible at trial unless the witness personally testifies at trial that the statement was accurate at the time it was made. Hernandez, 31 So.3d at 878; Smith, 880 So.2d at 736; Montano, 846 So.2d at 681-82.

In *Garrett*, this Court held that the predicate for the admission of a witness' prior out-of-court statement as a past recollection recorded is established where the witness testifies

at trial that he knew at the time it was written that it was accurate. 336 So.2d at 570 n.6. Although this Court issued its decision in *Garrett* prior to the Florida legislature's adoption of the evidence code and § 90.803(5), the adoption of that statute did not change the state of Florida law or the requirement that the witness acknowledge the accuracy of his or her prior statement through testimony at trial. *See Montano*, 846 So.2d at 682.

Both this Court in Garrett and the district court Montano explicitly noted that the reliability of statements properly introduced pursuant to the hearsay exception for past recorded recollections is derived from the veracity of the witness whose statement is at issue, not by the circumstances under which the statement was made. Where the witness testifies at trial that the out-of-court statement is accurate, the Courts reasoned, the out-of-court statement becomes admissible because it is supported by the oath taken by the witness at trial, and because the witness is available for cross-examination. Garrett, 336 So.2d at 570 n.6; Montano, 846 So.2d at 680.

The decision of the Fifth District on this issue is in express and direct conflict with the decision of this Court in Garrett and with the decisions of the district courts in

Hernandez, Smith, and Montano. First, the Fifth District explicitly noted its disagreement with the decisions in Hernandez, Smith, and Montano. (Appendix A at 9) ("We disagree with these cases . . .").

Second, the Fifth District explicitly rejected the rule, that a witness must personally vouch for the accuracy of his prior out-of-court statement at the time of trial, that was adopted by this Court in *Garrett* and the other district courts in *Hernandez*, *Smith*, and *Montano*. Instead, the Fifth District concluded that the totality of the circumstances, including the circumstances under which Ms. Levine's statement was originally made, and the other evidence presented at trial, established the reliability of, and rendered the statement admissible even though the Ms. Levine never confirmed its accuracy at trial. That conclusion is directly contrary to this Court's decision in *Garrett* and the district court's decision in *Montano*.

Although the Fifth District held that Mr. Polite did not properly preserve the aforementioned issue for appellate review, this Court should still accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict that now exists. First, upon further review, Mr. Polite believes that this Court will ultimately conclude that his numerous objections to the admissibility of Ms. Levine's

out-of-court statement were sufficient to preserve the issue for review. Mr. Polite asserts that his objections to the admission of this piece of evidence clearly conveyed to both the trial court and the State that he believed that the evidence in question was inadmissible hearsay and that the hearsay exception for past recollection recorded found in § 90.803(5) did not apply.

Second, the Fifth District, based on the specific facts of Mr. Polite's case, addressed the merits of his argument and ultimately concluded that the State had established the proper foundation for admissibility of Ms. Levine's statement That conclusion was an alternative holding, not dicta.

A court's conclusion that (1) is based on the specific facts of the case; and (2) could constitute a sufficient ground standing alone to support the court's decision is a holding, not dicta. Whetsel v. Network Property Services, LLC, 246 F.3d 897, 903 (7th Cir. 2001). "[W]here a decision rests on two or more grounds, none can be relegated to the category of obiter dictum." Woods v. Interstate Realty Co., 337 U.S. 535, 537, 69 S.Ct. 1235, 1237, 93 L.Ed. 1524 (1949); See also State v. Yule, 905 So.2d 251, 260 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (Canady, J., specially concurring) (courts should avoid both restrictive readings of

opinions and dismissal of stated judicial rationale as dicta).

Here, the Fifth District considered the specific facts of Mr. Polite's case to determine that the State had established the predicate for admissibility under 8 90.803(5). Additionally, in rejecting Mr. Polite's argument on the merits, the Fifth District engaged in a lengthy discussion of the requirements for admissibility pursuant to § 90.803(5). It is readily apparent that the court's decision could have rested independently on its conclusion that the State had established the predicate for admissibility of Ms. Levine's statement pursuant to § 90.803(5). Therefore, the Fifth District's conclusion on the merits of the past recollection recorded issue in this case constituted an alternative holding that is in conflict with both a decision of this Court and decisions of other district courts of appeal.

Finally, even if this Court concludes that the lengthy portion of the Fifth District's decision that dealt with the merits of the past recorded recollection issue is dicta, this Court should still accept jurisdiction to address the direct and express conflict that now exists. This Court has previously accepted jurisdiction to address a conflict that it found to exist in dicta. See Cowan Liebowitz & Latman v. Kaplan, 902

So.2d 755, 756-57 (Fla. 2005); Watson Realty Corp. v. Quinn, 452 So.2d 568, 569 (Fla. 1984); See also Garcia v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp., 444 So.2d 538, 539 n.3 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, this Court should accept jurisdiction, address the merits of the instant case, and resolve the conflict described above.