IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DARIUS JAMINE POLITE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC10-1812

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

____/

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #909130

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 fax: (386) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case were set forth in extensive detail in the opinion below. Polite v. State, 41 So. 3d 935 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010). The Petitioner was convicted of burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery, robbery with a firearm, aggravated assault with a firearm, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Id. at 936. Testimony at trial established that three men broke into the home of the victim and her two daughters, kicking in the door and rushing inside with guns Id. The victim recognized the Petitioner, who lived in drawn. Id. When the Petitioner recognized the the neighborhood. victim, he told the other men that they had the wrong house, and they left. Id.

The deputy who responded to the 911 call testified that the victim identified the Petitioner by name, then gave a sworn written statement detailing the events and again identifying the Petitioner by name as one of the robbers. *Id.* at 936-37. The victim later identified the Petitioner in a photographic line-up. *Id.* Physical evidence supported the victim's allegations, a videotape corroborated her story, and Petitioner's presence at the scene was confirmed by his GPS ankle monitor. *Id.* at 938.

At trial, the victim was extremely reluctant to testify, fearing for the safety of herself and her children. *Id.* at 937.

- 1 -

She eventually testified that three men kicked in the door to her home and came in, but then professed a lack of memory of the events. *Id.* She was shown her sworn statement and authenticated the document, admitting that she made the statement at the time or shortly after the event. *Id.* Defense counsel objected when the prosecutor asked if the statement was true and correct, and the question was not repeated when the objection was withdrawn. *Id.*

The victim's sworn statement was admitted into evidence as past recollection recorded. *Id.* at 937-38. The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that Petitioner had failed to preserve in the trial court the argument he made on appeal. *Id.* at 939. It further concluded, in dicta, that the new argument had no merit. *Id.* at 939-41.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has found that it has the discretion to accept jurisdiction where dicta in a lower court opinion conflicts with the holding of another case. That discretion should not be exercised here, where the alleged error was not preserved at trial and can in no way be deemed fundamental, and where the court's decision is based on a totality of the circumstances test well recognized in other courts and compatible with case law in Florida. This factually ensconced analysis does not warrant this Court's attention.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE.

This Court has jurisdiction under article V, section (3)(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution where a decision of a district court "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of this Court or another district court. This Court has repeatedly held that such conflict must be express and direct, that is, "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Nonetheless, as Petitioner points out, this Court has concluded that it has jurisdiction under this section even when the conflict arises from dicta.

Here, the Petitioner contends that the lower court's discussion regarding the required predicate for admitting past recollection recorded conflicts with other cases. This discussion was purely dicta, as the lower court had already concluded that this argument was not properly preserved below, and there was clearly no fundamental error. Polite, 41 So. 3d at 939. Indeed, as Judge Torpy noted in his concurring opinion, this case presents a classic example of the reason for the contemporaneous objection rule; had the Petitioner's argument been made in the trial court, the alleged foundational omission could have been easily remedied. Id. at 943.

-4-

At any rate, while this Court could exercise its jurisdiction here, such jurisdiction is purely discretionary, not mandatory. The State submits that jurisdiction is not warranted here.

The lower court conducted an extensive analysis of the required foundation for admitting a recorded recollection, concluding that admissibility must be evaluated by considering the totality of the circumstances, rather than the presence or absence of any certain magic words. *Id.* at 939-41. Such an approach has been embraced by numerous courts in other jurisdictions and is fully consistent with Florida law in other areas. Most importantly, this approach comports with the plain language of the statute governing this hearsay exception.

There is no need for this Court to exercise jurisdiction to review this well-reasoned decision, especially where such review will make no difference in the ultimate outcome of this case due to Petitioner's failure to properly preserve this issue at trial.

-5-

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, the Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.